IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 12 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Consolidated Case No. 2010-CP-10-2271

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000076

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE COURT ERR IN GRANTING PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE MUHLER COMPANY, INC. AGAINST SUPERIOR CONSTRUCTION CORPORATION?
2. DID THE COURT ERR IN DENYING PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO SUPERIOR AGAINST MUHLER?
3. DID THE COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE SUBCONTRACT BETWEEN SUPERIOR AND MUHLER DOES NOT CLEARLY AND UNEQUIVOCALLY PROVIDE INDEMNIFICATION FROM RESPONDENT FOR ANY ALLEGED CONCURRENT NEGLIGENCE OF SUPERIOR, EXCEPTING CLAIMS FOR “THE WORK ITSELF?”
4. DID THE COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE 2007 AGREEMENT BETWEEN SUPERIOR AND MUHLER DOES NOT CLEARLY AND UNEQUIVOCALLY PROVIDE INDEMNIFICATION FOR ANY ALLEGED CONCURRENT NEGLIGENCE OF SUPERIOR?
5. DID THE COURT ERR IN CONSTRUING THE SUBCONTRACT AND THE JUNE 2007 AGREEMENT SEPARATELY IN REACHING ITS DECISION?
6. DOES THE SUBCONTRACT HAVE TO BE RECONCILED WITH THE TERMS OF THE JUNE 2007 AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO THE LAW OF SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTRUING CONTRACTS GENERALLY BEFORE THE “CLEAR AND UNEQUIVOCAL” STANDARD REGARDING OF THE SCOPE OF CONTRACTUAL INDEMNIFICATION CAN BE PROPERLY ASSESSED?
7. DOES THE SUBCONTRACT AND THE JUNE 2007 AGREEMENT, WHEN RECONCILED AND CONSTRUED TOGETHER, REQUIRE MUHLER TO INDEMNIFY SUPERIOR FOR ANY POSSIBLE CONCURRENT NEGLIGENCE OF SUPERIOR AS IT RELATES TO THE WINDOW AND DOOR CLAIMS SETTLED BY SUPERIOR?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from two orders of Clifton Newman, Presiding Judge of the Ninth Judicial Circuit. By order dated September 25, 2014 and filed October 6, 2014, Judge Newman granted Respondent The Muhler Company, Inc.'s (hereinafter "Muhler") Motion for Partial Summary Judgment in part and denied Appellant Superior Construction Corporation's (hereinafter "Superior") Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. Judge Newman denied Superior's timely Motion to Reconsider by Order dated January 12, 2016. Superior appeals from both of these orders.

This appeal concerns Superior's cross-claims for contractual indemnification in a complex construction case involving a luxury condominium project located at the corner of Concord and Cumberland Streets ("Subject Property") in Charleston, South Carolina. Plaintiff Horizontal Property Regime for the subject property (HPR) and certain individual condominium unit owners (hereinafter "C&C plaintiffs") filed a total of fifteen (15) separate lawsuits against numerous defendants, including Superior and Muhler. The Complaints were filed between March 19, 2010 and December 29, 2011. The C&C plaintiffs asserted claims of negligence, negligence per se, and breach of implied warranty of workmanlike service against Superior. (R. pp. 73-112) Superior timely served an Answer, Cross Claim, and Third Party Complaint which added Respondent Muhler as a Third Party Defendant and asserted claims for *inter alia*, contractual and equitable indemnity. In subsequent amended pleadings, C&C plaintiffs asserted direct claims against Muhler for negligence; breach of implied warranties of workmanlike service, merchantability, and fitness for a particular purpose; and breach of express warranty, and strict liability (products). (R. p. 229; R. p. 236; R. pp. 253-256; R. pp. 258-267)

By Consent Order of April 26, 2012, all of the parties of the fifteen cases agreed to a bench trial under the Honorable Judge Newman for all matters pertaining to each of the lawsuits, along with the consolidation of all discovery, reserving the right to later consolidate the cases for trial. (which would later be agreed to be the remaining parties of the case.) In April of 2013, after extensive discovery among the parties, which involved over forty depositions, numerous site inspections and destructive testing, and over a half-million pages of document production, Superior reached a settlement with all Plaintiffs to obtain a release from all of their claims related to or arising from the windows and exterior doors, including all loss of use and diminution of value claims, increased assessments levied on unit owners, and claims for resulting property damage, for the sum of Seven Hundred and Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars (\$775,000.00). (R. pp. 402-431) Superior also entered into other separate carve-out settlements alongside its other subcontractors with all C&C plaintiffs for all other claims related to all other scopes of work outside of the windows and doors, which are not subject to the present appeal. Thus Superior's settlement of the window and door claims is separate and distinct from all of the other multiple settlement agreements entered into by Superior with Plaintiffs for claims arising from all of the other elements of the building envelope that were asserted in all of the fifteen lawsuits. Leading up to the settlement, Superior separately incurred over five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000.00) in legal fees and expenses that are affiliated with its defense of the window and door claims, over one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000.00) in expert witness fees that directly relate to the Plaintiffs' window and door claims, and over thirty thousand dollars (\$30,000.00) in court reporter fees. On July 11, 2014 Superior filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment against Muhler to establish liability under equitable

and contractual indemnification for amounts paid to the C&C plaintiffs to settle the window and door claims, along with costs of defense and attorneys' fees (up to the time of settlement of the window & door claims), plus "prevailing party" costs and attorneys' fees pursuant to Appellant's rights of indemnity under the Subcontract and the 2007 Agreement. Superior stipulated that the ultimate amount of Respondent's liability would have to be determined at a damages hearing after obtaining a grant of summary judgment against Respondent.

On July 14, 2014 Respondent filed an Amended Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Against Superior, seeking a declaration that: "1) neither the Subcontract and the 2007 Agreement permit Superior to be indemnified for its own wrongdoing, and that the 2007 Agreement fails for lack of consideration and impossibility; 2) that neither Superior nor C&C is entitled to equitable indemnification because neither can prove it has 'clean hands'." Both Superior and Respondent submitted extensive memoranda in support of their motions and/or in rebuttal to the other parties' motions and memoranda. Oral argument was conducted before the Court on July 28-29, 2014, at which Superior voluntarily dismissed its claim for equitable indemnity and pursued partial summary judgment based upon contractual indemnity as further set forth in Superior's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, supporting memoranda and oral argument. Superior's contractual indemnity claim was based upon a standard Form 600 subcontract issued by the American General Contractors' Association and a subsequently executed, custom-drafted contractual agreement known as the "June 2007 Agreement", or simply the "2007 Agreement." The proper legal interpretation of these agreements was at the core of the cross motions between Appellant and Respondent, and the sole basis for the Court's

determination of these motions. In particular, the issue of whether the Subcontract and the 2007 Agreement satisfied the “clear and unequivocal” standard of Laurens Emerg. Med. Spec. v. M.S. Bailey & Sons Bankers, 355 S.C. 104, 111, 584 S.E.2d 375, 379 (2003) for a party to be indemnified for its concurrent negligence via contractual indemnification was disputed by Superior and Muhler. Each side’s motion as it related to the legal interpretation of the contractual indemnity obligation issue was the essentially the exact, diametrically opposite position of the other: by granting Superior’s motion, the Court would be simultaneously denying Respondent’s motion as to this issue, and vice versa.

Superior and Respondent both stipulated before the Court that there was no appellate authority in South Carolina that specifically construed the language of the indemnity provisions of the AGC Form 600 Subcontract, [or any substantially identical or similar form contract language from the American Institute of Architects (AIA)] as it relates to the scope of indemnity in dispute.] A major aspect of the legal argument between Superior and Respondent centered upon each side submitting extra-jurisdictional appellate decisions that examined form contracts that were substantially identical to, or at least very similar to, the AGC form indemnity language, as well as other major construction industry form contract indemnity language. Ultimately, each side’s position stands or falls upon the legal interpretation of the indemnity obligation from the Subcontract and the June 2007 Agreement.

The trial court’s issued its Order filed October 6, 2014, which ruled on a number of pending dispositive motions, including the cross motions for partial summary judgment by Superior and Muhler. In relevant part, Judge Newman’s Order granted Muhler’s motion to the extent Muhler sought a declaration that, as a matter of law, neither the Subcontract nor

the 2007 Agreement would permit Superior to be indemnified for its “own negligence” as it relates to the windows and doors, although the Court did not make a specific finding of negligence as to Superior or Muhler in the Order. The Order did not grant summary judgment to Muhler on any other grounds. By direct extension, in granting Muhler’s motion as noted, Superior’s motion for partial summary judgment was accordingly denied.

Superior timely filed a Motion to Reconsider the Order filed October 6, 2014, which was heard for oral argument on December 4, 2015. Judge Newman denied the Motion to Reconsider via the Order dated January 12, 2016. Superior filed its Notice of Appeal on January 14, 2016, appealing the grant of partial summary judgment to Muhler. A Consent Order to Stay the Trial Pending Appeal was filed with the lower court on January 25, 2016. At this time, the only parties remaining in the case are Superior, Muhler, and Weathershield MFG, Inc., with claims asserted by each of these against all others. Due to the size, complexity, and expense of the anticipated trial, as well as the common issues of fact and law that impact the disposition of all parties’ claims and defenses, the Court, with the unanimous consent of the parties, found that it was in the interests of judicial economy to stay the trial of the case pending the outcome of the instant appeal. (R. pp. 67-71)

The proper interpretation of the Subcontract and 2007 Agreement as it relates to the Appellant’s rights of indemnity is the sole basis of this appeal.

FACTS

The following facts are not in dispute. Superior Construction served as the General Contractor for the construction of the building shell of the Subject Property. The Developer or Owner of this project was Concord & Cumberland, LLC. Muhler served as a subcontractor to Superior for the provision and installation of the windows and exterior

doors, including the supply and installation of all related caulking and sealants. (R. p. 335; R. pp. 362-382) Muhler's installation work was performed by two subcontractors, Watts Builders, Inc. and In The Wind, Inc. (R. p. 335) Weather Shield MFG, Inc. manufactured the windows and exterior doors. (Id.)

Initially, Superior was directly responsible for preparing the window rough openings to receive the window installation. (R. p. 25) Superior subsequently subcontracted this work to Watts. (R. p. 335) Thus, Watts performed some work as a subcontractor for Muhler and some work as a subcontractor for Superior. (R. p. 25) Muhler's scope of work included installation of the windows into rough openings prepared by Superior and/or its subcontractors. (Id.)

The Prime Contract between Superior and Concord and Cumberland, LLC, (identified as the "Owner" in the Prime Contract) was an AIA Document A101 (1997) Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor, which incorporated an amended version of the AIA A201 General Conditions. (Article 8.1.2 of Enumeration of Contract Documents, AIA Document A101.) Article 3.18 of the General Conditions placed contractual indemnity obligations upon Superior towards the Owner for any claims arising from the performance of the work of the contract to the extent caused by the negligent acts or omissions of Superior, any of its subcontractors, or anyone employed directly or indirectly by them. (R. pp. 488-489.)

The subcontract between Superior and Muhler for the windows and exterior doors is an AGC Document No. 600 Subcontract for Building Construction, 1984 edition, by the Associated General Contractors of America. At Article 12.1, the Subcontract provides as follows:

Article 12
INDEMNIFICATION

12.1 SUBCONTRACTOR'S PERFORMANCE. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Subcontractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, the Architect, the Contractor (including its affiliates, parents and subsidiaries) and other contractors and subcontractors and all of their agents and employees from and against all claims, damages, loss and expenses, including but not limited to attorney's fees, arising out of or resulting from the performance of the Subcontractor's Work provided that

(a) any such claim, damage, loss or expense is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Subcontractor's Work itself) including the loss of use resulting there from, to the extent caused or alleged to be caused in whole or in any part by any negligent act or omission of the Subcontractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed by the Subcontractor or anyone for whose acts the Subcontractor may be liable, regardless of whether it is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder.

(b) such obligation shall not be construed to negate, or abridge, or otherwise reduce any other right or obligation of indemnity which would otherwise exist as to any party or person described in this Article 12.

(R. pp. 362-383)

The installation of the windows and doors commenced (approximately) in the last week of February 2007. In early 2007, the windows and doors were found to be leaking. (R. p. 51) Superior, Muhler, and Weather Shield entered into a separate agreement dated June 11, 2007 (hereinafter "the June 2007 Agreement"). (Id.) The recitations in the June 2007 Agreement acknowledge the existence of failed window water testing and other matters of non-performance of the windows, and further indicated that the Agreement sought to resolve non-compliance issues with the windows and doors. (R. p. 384) In the June 2007 Agreement, Muhler agreed to warrant that the windows were free from defects

and that Muhler would repair any future window failures or defects. (R. pp. 385-386.) As consideration for the Agreement, Superior agreed not to pursue litigation against Muhler and Weather Shield for the windows leaks that had been discovered. (R. p. 387)

The June 2007 Agreement also contained an indemnity agreement which provided, with respect to Muhler, as follows:

11. In the event either Superior or Concord and Cumberland, LLC are sued hereafter by or on behalf of any subsequent owner, alleging that one or more of the windows and/or doors do not comply with the original and amended contract documents, or are defectively installed, Muhler agrees to unconditionally indemnify both Superior and Concord and Cumberland, LLC against these allegations and will pay all damages (including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred by either or both, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or award of arbitration, liability incurred by either or both as consequence [sic] including, but not limited to costs and attorneys' fees, any remedial costs of expert witnesses, cost of arbitration and all other damages incurred.

(Id.) Article 12.1 of the Subcontract and Paragraph 11 of the 2007 Agreement are the only two indemnification clauses in existence dealing with Muhler towards Superior.

Superior agreed to satisfy any outstanding balances due Muhler in exchange for Muhler's completion of its work under the subcontract. (R. p. 51; R. p. 387) These funds have been withheld due to the ongoing window leaks at Concord and Cumberland, pursuant to Superior's rights under Article 10.1.1 of the Subcontract, and other provisions.

Construction of the building shell was substantially complete in October 2007. (R. p. 51) The windows continued to leak after the execution of the June 2007 Agreement. (R. p. 339) The C&C plaintiffs filed this action alleging, among other things, water intrusion through and around the windows and doors. (R. p. 51) Superior implead Muhler under, among other things, a theory of contractual indemnity. (R. pp. 113-135) Plaintiffs further asserted claims against the Owner, Concord and Cumberland, LLC ("the Owner") arising from the same aforementioned allegations pertaining to the windows and doors,

including, *enter alia*, breach of the implied warranty of habitability. (R. p. 243) The Owner in turn asserted cross claims against Superior and its Surety (Safeco) for breach of contract, contractual and equitable indemnity, breach of express and implied warranty, and negligence. (Answer to Second Amended Complaint of Concord & Cumberland, LLC and Cross Claims Against Superior Construction Corporation [*et al*], ¶¶ 73-107) (R. pp. 306-312)

After four and a half years of pre-suit claim investigation and litigation, with extremely extensive discovery involving over a half million pages of document production, over forty depositions and three mediations, on April 25, 2013 Superior settled of all of the C&C plaintiffs' claims related to or arising from the windows and exterior doors for the sum of Seven Hundred and Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars (\$775,000.00). (R. p. 340) Superior also entered into other carve-out settlements for all other claims related to or arising from all of the other scopes of work outside of the windows and doors, which are not subject to the present motion and will not be sought against Muhler and Weather Shield. Thus, Superior's contractual indemnity claim against Muhler is only for windows and door issues—damages caused by other trades (*i.e.*, roofing, stucco installation, etc.) were settled under separate settlement agreements. Leading up to the settlement, Superior separately incurred over five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000.00) in legal fees and expenses that are affiliated with its defense of the window and door claims, over one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000.00) in expert witness fees that directly relate to the Plaintiffs' window and door claims, and over thirty thousand dollars (\$30,000.00) in court reporter fees. (*Id.*) Shortly after Superior settled with Plaintiffs, in July of 2013, Muhler reached a settlement with Plaintiffs as well for Three Hundred Thousand Dollars.

Superior moved for partial summary judgment against Muhler as to liability on Superior's contractual indemnity claim. (R. p. 334) Specifically, Superior sought a declaration as to Muhler's liability, with a damages hearing thereafter to ascertain the amount of damages. (Id.)

Muhler opposed Superior's motion for partial summary judgment, and filed its own motion for partial summary judgment, on the ground that Superior is not entitled to contractual indemnification for its "own negligence." (R. p. 52) In briefing these motions, Superior and Muhler both presented evidence that the other was negligent, and that the other's negligence contributed to the window and door water intrusion issues. (R. pp 346-357; R. pp. 539-541)

The trial court granted Muhler's motion "to the extent that [Muhler] seek[s] to have the Court find as a matter of law that neither the Subcontract nor the 2007 Agreement clearly and unequivocally provide indemnification for Superior's . . . own negligence." (R. pp. 62-63) However, the Court did not make a formal finding of negligence as to Superior or Muhler in the Order. The trial court denied Superior's motion.

In moving for reconsideration, Superior stipulated that it is not seeking indemnity from Muhler for Superior's sole negligence. (R. p. 942) Superior's claim is based upon its entitlement to indemnification from Muhler, which includes any alleged concurrent negligence as to Superior. (Id.) The trial court denied Superior's Motion to Reconsider on January 12, 2016. Superior timely filed its Notice of Appeal on January 21, 2016.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court exercises *de novo* review of questions of law. Fesmire v. Digh, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009). In reviewing factual questions for purposes

of review of a ruling on a summary judgment motion, appellate courts must apply the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP. Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005).

“Summary judgment is appropriate when it is clear there is no genuine issue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Faile v. S.C. Dep’t of Juvenile Justice, 350 S.C. 315, 323-24, 566 S.E.2d 536, 540 (2002). “In determining whether a genuine question of fact exists, the court must view the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Id.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY CONFLATED INDEMNIFICATION FOR THE INDEMNITEE'S OWN NEGLIGENCE WITH INDEMNIFICATION FOR THE INDEMNITEE'S SOLE NEGLIGENCE.

The trial court held that Superior cannot obtain indemnity for its “own” negligence. However, the Court failed to adequately distinguish the broader concept of “own” negligence from the more narrow concept of concurrent negligence

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