RECEIVED

DEC 06 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court Of Common Pleas

The Honorable Clifton Newman, Judicial Circuit Court Judge  
Case No.: 2010-CP-10-2271

Appellate Case No. 2016-000076

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

**1. The circuit court properly construed the Subcontract and the 2007 Agreement separately.**

In asserting that the circuit court erred with respect to its reading of the indemnification provisions in the Subcontract and the 2007 Agreement, Superior contends that the language of the 2007 Agreement, read in conjunction with the Subcontract, alters it such that there would be the duty to indemnify Superior for Superior's negligence—essentially Superior contends that the 2007 Agreement lowers the bar. The trial court properly read the two agreements separately per their terms and Superior's argument lacks merit.

As an initial matter, Superior's assertion that the 2007 Agreement altered the language of the Subcontract was not raised to the circuit court in opposition to Muhler's motion and was raised for the first time in connection with Superior's Motion to Reconsider.<sup>4</sup> (R. pp. 953-954) In response to Superior's argument that it did not reconcile the two agreements, the circuit court explained that it spent "quite a bit of time examining those contracts" in issuing its ruling on the parties' motions. (R. p. 997) Therefore, contrary to Superior's assertion, the circuit considered the terms of both agreements and determined that they should not be read together.

The 2007 Agreement specifies that neither the testing performed to date, "nor this Agreement has amended or affected any party's contractual rights and responsibilities

---

<sup>4</sup> Because this issue was improperly raised for the first time in connection with Superior's Motion to Reconsider, the October 6, 2014 Order does not address this issue. *Brailsford v. Brailsford*, 380 S.C. 443, 448, 669 S.E.2d 342, 344-345 (Ct. App. 2008) (a party cannot raise an issue for the first time on a Rule 59(e), SCRPC motion); *Eaddy v. Oliver*, 345 S.C. 39, 44, 545 S.E.2d 830, 833 (Ct. App. 2001) (a party cannot raise an issue for the first time on a Rule 59 motion that could have been raised at trial). Therefore, given that Superior did not properly present this issue to the circuit court, by addressing this argument here, Muhler does not waive its right to argue that this Court should not consider this argument in connection with this appeal.

except to the extent specifically stated in this Agreement.” (R. p. 619). Per the terms of the 2007 Agreement, it stands on its own. Section 11 of the 2007 Agreement does not reference or even purport to modify Paragraph 12.1 of the Subcontract. (R. p. 622) There simply is no specific modification of the Subcontract’s indemnification provision. Therefore, the circuit court did not err in rejecting Superior’s argument in connection with denying Superior’s Motion for Reconsideration.

**2. The circuit court properly applied the clear and unequivocal standard to the indemnification provision in the Subcontract.**

Superior’s reading of the indemnification provision in the Subcontract is flawed.

The provision at issue in the Subcontract states:

12.1 SUBCONTRACTOR’S PERFORMANCE. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Subcontractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, the Architect, and Contractor (including its affiliates, parents and subsidiaries) and other contractors and subcontractors and all of their agents and employees from and against all claims, damages, loss and expenses, including but not limited to attorney’s fees, **arising out of or resulting from the performance of the Subcontractor’s Work** provided that

(a) any such claim, damage, loss, or expense is attributable to . . . injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Subcontractor’s Work itself) including the loss of use resulting there from, **to the extent caused or alleged to be caused in whole or in any part by any negligent act or omission of the Subcontractor** or anyone directly or indirectly employed by the Subcontractor or anyone for whose acts the Subcontractor may be liable, **regardless of whether it is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder.**

(b) such obligation shall not be construed to negate, or abridge, or otherwise reduce any other right or obligation of indemnity which would otherwise exist as to any party or person described in this Article 12.

(R. p. 607) (emphasis added) While Superior contends that it is entitled to be indemnified for its own negligence, the language of this provision clearly demonstrates

that there was no intent between Superior and Muhler for Muhler to indemnify Superior for Superior's negligence. Rather, this provision provides that Muhler would indemnify Superior for claims and expenses arising out of the performance of Muhler's work to the extent that the claims or expenses are caused by Muhler's acts or omissions. This provision does not state clearly and unequivocally that Muhler agreed to indemnify Superior for Superior's own negligence (or concurrent negligence to the extent there is any distinction). Superior's arguments to the contrary are unavailing.

Under South Carolina law, general principles of contract interpretation require courts to construe the contract "as a whole and different provisions dealing with the same subject matter are to be read together." *Skull Creek Club Ltd. v. Cook & Book, Inc.*, 313 S.C. 283, 286, 437 S.E.2d 163, 165 (Ct. App. 1993). Applying these principles here supports the circuit court's determination that Muhler had no obligation to indemnify Superior for Superior's negligence.

Courts across the country that have considered language substantially similar to that contained in the indemnification provision in the Subcontract have uniformly determined that this provision does not provide indemnification for the indemnitee's own negligence. *See e.g., Brown v. Boyer-Washington Blvd. Assoc.*, 856 P.2d 352, 355 (Utah 1993) (limiting similar indemnification language to damages caused in whole or in part by acts of the subcontractor); *MT Builders, LLC v. Fisher Roofing, Inc.*, 197 P.3d 758, 765 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2008) (explaining that identical indemnification language created "a comparative fault or negligence arrangement whereby the indemnitor's liability is limited 'to the extent' it and its supervisors were at fault"); *Cabo Constr., Inc. v. R.S. Clark Constr., Inc.*, 227 S.W.3d 314, 317 (Tex. App. 2007) (finding same language did not

expressly state that the subcontractor would indemnify the contractor for the contractor's own negligence); *Mautz v. J.P. Patti Co.*, 688 A.2d 1088, 1092-1093 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1997) (finding virtually identical language did not indemnify indemnitee for its own negligence but instead provided indemnification "only to the extent the [indemnitor's] negligence contributed to the loss"); *Frank v. MSI Constr., Mgrs., Inc.*, 527 N.W.2d 79, 81 (Mich. Ct. App. 1995) (construing practically identical language to mean the subcontractor is liable to the general contractor only "to the extent of its own negligence but is not required to indemnify" the general contractor for the general contractor's own negligence); *Glendale Constr. Servs., Inc. v. Accurate Air Sys., Inc.*, 902 S.W.2d 536, 539 (Tex. Ct. App. 1995); *Braegelmann v. Horizon Dev. Co.*, 371 N.W.2d 644, 646-647 (Minn. Ct. App. 1985) (interpreting same operative language as not providing indemnification to the general contractor for its own negligence).

These decisions are analogous and Superior's reliance on *Camp, Dresser & McKee, Inc. v. Paul N. Howard Co.*, 853 So.2d 1072 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2003) and cases of its ilk is misplaced. Neither *Camp, Dresser & McKee* nor the other cases contain language that is substantially similar to that found in Paragraph 12.1 of the Subcontract. Therefore, those cases and their results are inapplicable. The indemnification clause in *Camp, Dresser & McKee* provided that there will be indemnity for damages "arising out of or resulting from the performance of the work." That is not the language included in the Subcontract, which provides for indemnity for damages "arising out of or resulting from the performance of [Muhler]'s Work." The indemnity provision in the Subcontract is distinctly different from the provision in *Camp, Dresser & McKee* and by its terms is limited to damages arising from Muhler's work and extends only to damages caused "in

whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of [Muhler]” or its employees. Clearly, the provision in the Subcontract does not provide indemnification for Superior’s negligence.

Likewise, Superior’s argument that the phrase “regardless of whether it is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder” supports its flawed reading of the indemnification provision is incorrect. As mandated under South Carolina law, this phrase must be interpreted in light of the other language in the indemnification provision. Cases previously considering this language determined that the language of the entire indemnification provision failed to demonstrate an intent by the subcontractor to indemnify the indemnitee for the indemnitee’s own negligence. Those courts, like South Carolina courts, read the provisions together and based upon that reading made the only logical determination that could be made – that the indemnitor’s obligation to indemnify did not include indemnifying the indemnitee for the indemnitee’s negligence.

For example, in *Nusbaum v. City of Kansas City*, 100 S.W.3d 101 (Mo. 2003), the Supreme Court of Missouri considered an indemnification provision that was similarly worded and determined that it did not provide indemnity for the contractor’s own negligence. In addressing this issue, the court stated that Missouri law provided that “[a] contract of indemnity will not be construed so as to indemnify one against loss or damage resulting from his own negligent acts unless such intention is expressed in clear and unequivocal terms.” *Nusbaum*, 100 S.W.3d at 105 (citation omitted). Further, the court noted that “[i]n absence of such clear expression or where any doubt exists as to the intention of the parties, courts in Missouri will not construe a contract of indemnity to indemnify against the indemnitee’s own negligence.” *Id.* at 105 (quotations omitted).

The provision at issue provided that the subcontractor would indemnify for damages “arising out of or resulting from performance of the Subcontractor’s Work . . . . regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss, or expense is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder.” *Id.*

In addressing whether this provision clearly and unequivocally expressed an intent to indemnify the contractor for its own negligence, the *Nusbaum* court determined that the “phrase ‘to the extent caused’ expresses an intention to limit the indemnitor’s liability to the portion of fault attributed to the indemnitor.” *Id.* at 106. The court explained “[t]he preferred construction of the indemnification provision at issue, one that provides a reasonable meaning to each phrase of the provision, requires nothing more than that [the indemnitor] indemnify [the indemnitee] for [the indemnitor]’s negligence even if [the indemnitee] participates in part in [the indemnitor]’s negligent conduct.” *Id.* at 106-107. The court further explained that “[t]o hold otherwise would make the intended expression to limit liability to the acts of indemnitor meaningless.” *Id.* at 107.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> Likewise, Superior’s criticisms regarding the court’s analysis in *Braegelmann* are misplaced. Specifically, Superior discounts that court’s holding because it contends that the court “simply disregarded the final phrase ‘regardless of whether it is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder,’ finding it ambiguous without making any attempt to harmonize or reconcile its operation with the other terms of the agreement.” Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 27. Superior’s statement is disingenuous. Actually, the *Braegelmann* court did consider this language in determining whether the indemnification provision clearly and unequivocally provided that the indemnitor was agreeing to indemnify the indemnitee for the indemnitee’s negligence. The court determined that this phrase, along with “to the extent caused” language, provided support for the determination that there was no intent to indemnify for the indemnitee’s negligence. See *Braegelmann*, 371 N.W.2d at 646 (“The remaining language, ‘regardless of whether it is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder,’ makes the indemnification provision equivocal at best and it therefore fails under the strict construction standard.”). The court’s reasoning in *Braegelmann* is in accord with South Carolina law.

Further, in addressing the circuit court's decision, Superior engages in an unnecessary discussion regarding factual issues that were not addressed in the October 6, 2014 Order and that are not relevant to this appeal. The appeal concerns a narrow issue—did Muhler agree to indemnify Superior for Superior's negligence, which the circuit court correctly determined it did not. The nature of and the percentage of the parties' negligence is not the issue that the circuit court addressed and is not an issue that should be addressed on a motion for summary judgment. Therefore, Superior's arguments related to this issue should be disregarded.

**3. *The circuit court properly applied the clear and unequivocal standard to the indemnification provision in the 2007 Agreement.***

Superior contends that the 2007 Agreement somehow expands the scope of indemnification in the Subcontract. As explained above, Superior's argument lacks merit because by its very terms, the 2007 Agreement does not seek to alter the language of the Subcontract. Notwithstanding this fact, the 2007 Agreement does not broaden the scope of indemnification under the Subcontract because even alone it does not provide indemnification to Superior for Superior's negligence.

The 2007 Agreement provides:

11. In the event either Superior or Concord and Cumberland, LLC are sued hereafter by or on behalf of any subsequent owner, alleging that one or more of the windows and/or doors do not comply with the original and amended Contract Documents, or are defectively installed, **Muhler agrees to unconditionally indemnify both Superior and Concord and Cumberland, LLC against these allegations** and will pay **all damages (including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred by either or both, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or award of arbitration**, liability incurred by either or both as consequence including, but not limited to, costs and attorneys' fees, any remedial costs of expert witnesses, cost of arbitration and all other damages incurred.

(R. p. 622) (emphasis added) In the October 6, 2014 Order, the circuit court acknowledged that the language of the 2007 Agreement was broader than the language contained in the Subcontract. (R. p. 33) However, the circuit court determined that its language still did not clearly and unequivocally state that Muhler agreed to indemnify Superior for Superior's negligence. In further considering the language, the circuit court stated that "[t]o the extent that the provisions in the 2007 Agreement purport to indemnify Superior [] 'unconditionally,' they are unconscionably broad." (R. p. 33) (citing *Fisher v. Stevens*, 355 S.C. 290, 296, 584 S.E.2d 149, 152 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding that an overly broad indemnification provision would "offend notions of public policy")). The circuit court determined that *Fisher* was applicable in this context because "where the phrase 'unconditionally indemnify' is as objectionably broad, if not broader, as the phrase at issue in *Fisher*, which released 'any person in any restricted area' from liability," the reasoning would equally apply. (R. p. 33) (quoting *Fisher*, 355 S.C. at 296, 584 S.E.2d at 152). Superior did not appeal from the circuit court's determination in this regard. See *State v. NV Samtra Tobacco Trading Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 92, 666 S.E.2d 218, 224 (2008) (determining where the appellant failed to appeal an issue it was not preserved for the court's review) (citing Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR and *Jinks v. Richland County*, 355 S.C. 341, 585 S.E.2d 281 (2003)). Therefore, the language of the 2007 Agreement is unconscionably broad and Superior is not entitled to indemnity for its negligence. See *Floyd v. Floyd*, 365 S.C. 56, 72, 615 S.E.2d 465, 474 (2005) ("An unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case.") (citing *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche*, 327 S.C. 238, 241, 489 S.E.2d 470, 472 (1997)).